Od?

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF

FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT NO.:

FILED

JAN 7 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Deputy Clerk

PHILLIP SALLAS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LOUIS O. FROST, JR. PUBLIC DEFENDER FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES T. MILLER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
407 Duval County Courthouse
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 630-1548

FLORIDA BAR NO. 0293679

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

###

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Phillip Sallas, was the Appellant before the First District Court of Appeal and the Respondent to the Petition for Involuntary Placement, pursuant to Section 394.467, Florida Statutes, filed in the Circuit Court of Duval County. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and prosecuted the Petition for Involuntary Placement. Petitioner will designate any references to the Record on Appeal filed in the First District Court of Appeal as "R.", followed by the appropriate page number(s).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Administrator of the Jacksonville Mental Health Resource Center of Jacksonville (MHRC) filed a Petition for Involuntary Placement of Petitioner at the Northeast Florida State Hospital (R. 1-2). The Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent Petitioner (R. 6). The Public Defender's Office later withdrew from Petitioner's case due to a conflict (R. 7-10). A private attorney was appointed to represent him (R. 11). The case then proceeded to hearing on the Petition. The hearing was not transcribed so the parties, pursuant to Rule 9.200(a)(3), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, and this Court's order to supplement the record, agreed to the following stipulated set of facts (R. 23-25):

- 1. On May 10, 1990, a hearing was held by The Honorable Virginia Beverly upon a petition for involuntary placement.
- 2. The hearing commenced at 2:10 p.m. and concluded at 3:00 p.m.
- 3. Testimony was taken from Dr. Lepley as follows:
- a) Dr. Henry Lepley was declared an expert psychiatrist.
- b) Dr. Lepley examined Mr. Phillip Sallas on April 23, 1990, for 30-35 minutes; on May 4, 1990, for 10-15 minutes; on May 7, 1990, for 10-15 minutes and on May 10, 1990, for 20 minutes.
- c) Based upon the abovereferenced examination and notations
  made by staff in Respondent's medical
  record, Dr. Lepley diagnosed Mr. Sallas
  as suffering from chronic
  schizophrenia, a mental illness.
- d) Dr. Lepley indicated that Mr. Sallas had: an inability to moderate disruptive behavior; poor judgment and reasoning.

- e) Dr. Lepley indicated that Mr. Sallas had been seen naked in his apartment and had no electricity, water or telephone. Dr. Lepley has never visited Mr. Sallas at home.
- f) Dr. Lepley stated that, in his opinion, Phillip Sallas was unable to determine for himself whether placement is necessary.
- g) Dr. Lepley stated that, in his opinion, Phillip Sallas is incapable of surviving alone and would suffer from neglect or fail to care for himself if allowed to live alone.
- h) Dr. Lepley advised Mr. Sallas best [sic] placement was in long term care and that less restrictive alternatives had been considered and judged to be inappropriate.
- i) Dr. Lepley stated that Dr. Solloway agreed with his diagnosis and recommendations. There was no third opinion.
- 4) Mr. Phillip Sallas testified as follows:
- a) He could take care of himself.
- b) He wanted to go back to his apartment and he did not need to go to the hospital.

The Circuit Court entered an Order for Involuntary Placement on May 10, 1990 (R. 12). Petitioner was committed until November 10, 1990. The Public Defender's Office was appointed for appeal (R. 14). The preparation of the Record on Appeal in this cause was finished on August 30, 1990.

Petitioner filed his Initial Brief on September 28, 1990. Petitioner asked the First District to expedite his appeal. On October 23, 1990, the First District granted the Motion to Expedite its consideration of Petitioner's appeal. On October 23, 1990, Respondent filed her Answer Brief. Petitioner filed his Reply Brief on November 1, 1990.

On November 87, 1990, counsel for Petitioner learned that he had been released from his Involuntary Commitment. Counsel then filed a Notice of Mootness with the First District which informed the court that Petitioner had been released. Petitioner asked the court to certify the question of mootness as it did in Godwin v. State, 557 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. granted, No. 75,881 (Fla. October 29, 1990). On December 10, 1990, the First District dismissed the appeal and issued an opinion which certified the following question to this Court:

"WHEN AN INDIVIDUAL SEEKING REVIEW OF AN ORDER OF INVOLUNTARY COMMIT-MENT HAS BEEN RELEASED FROM THAT COMMITMENT PRIOR TO DISPOSITION OF THE APPEAL ON THE MERITS, WHAT SHOWING MUST HE OR SHE MAKE TO AVOID DISMISSAL OF THE APPEAL ON GROUNDS OF MOOTNESS?"

Petitioner filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on December 11, 1990. On December 18, 1990, this Court granted review in this cause.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question by deciding that all appeals of involuntary commitments are not moot when the Appellant is released from commitment before the appeal is decided. Florida courts have previously held that an involuntary commitment appeal is moot after the citizen is released, unless there are adverse legal consequences. See Madden v. State, 463 So.2d 270 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). This Court should reject this limited view of mootness. Most, if not all, state and federal courts have decided such appeals are not moot for the following four reasons:

1. An involuntary commitment involves a total loss of liberty akin to a criminal incarceration - public policy requires that such claims be adjudicated to avoid similar losses of liberty in the future.

The United State Supreme Court in O'Connor v. Donaldson, 422 U.S. 563, 95 S.Ct. 2486, 45 L.Ed.2d 396 (1975), decided that an involuntary commitment is a deprivation of liberty, akin to incarceration for a crime, which requires a court to follow due process. Fundamental fairness requires a review of a case which results in a complete deprivation of liberty. If an appellate court does not review such a case because of mootness, a citizen could face several commitments without an opportunity to have his case reviewed on appeal. Public policy requires a review of any case where a person is deprived of his liberty. This Court in Kinner v. State, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981), decided that a court

could consider a mental health case which was moot, if the case raises a question of great public importance and will affect a significant number of future cases. Several out-of-state jurisdictions have considered this issue and decided the significant loss of liberty, coupled with the possibility of future commitments based upon the unreviewed commitment, defeated a mootness claim. See People v. Nunn, 438 N.E.2d 1342 (III. App. 1st Dist. 1982); State v. Lodge, 608 S.W.2d 910 (Tex. 1980); In Re Hatley, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977).

# 2. An involuntary commitment creates severe adverse social consequences.

An involuntary commitment creates severe adverse social consequences such as a loss of employment or a damage to reputation. An Oregon Court in State v. Van Tassel, 484 P.2d 1117 (Or. App. 1971), specifically decided a case was not moot because the involuntary commitment could affect future employment. An Illinois appeals court in People v. Nunn, 438 N.Ed.2d 1342 (III. App. 1st Dist. 1982), also followed this principle. Although these consequences are not legal collateral consequences, they are pernicious enough to defeat a mootness claim.

# 3. An involuntary commitment creates a stigma which justifies an exception to the mootness doctrine.

The First District in <u>In Re Sealy</u>, 218 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969), held that the stigma of an adjudication of incompetence was sufficient to overcome the technical mootness of an appeal. The First District Court of Appeal in this case and in Godwin v. State, 557 So.2d 995 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), did not

expressly overrule nor discuss <u>In Re Sealy</u>. The principle enunciated in <u>In Re Sealy</u> is the better view of this issue because other state courts have followed it. <u>See State v. Van Tassel</u>, <u>supra; State v. Lodge</u>, <u>supra; In Re D.B.W.</u>, 616 P.2d 1149 (Okla. 1980); <u>Lessard v. Schmidt</u>, 349 F.Supp. 1078 (E.D. Wisc. 1972); Note, "Developments in the Law of Civil Commitment of the Mentally Ill," 87 Harv.L.Rev. 1190 (1974).

# 4. The issues presented in an appeal of an involuntary commitment are capable of repetition, yet could evade review.

The greater weight of authority in this country has decided appeals of involuntary commitments are not moot because the issues presented by such cases are capable of repetition, yet could evade review. Counsel has been unable to find a case which considered this issue and decided the appeal was moot. following state and federal courts have used the capable of repetition, yet evading review doctrine to overcome a claim of mootness: California - Conservatorship of Manton, 803 P.2d 1147 (Cal. 1985); Massachusetts - Hashimi v. Kalil, 446 N.E.2d 1387 (Mass. 1983); Minnesota - In Re Cordie, 372 N.W.2d 24 (Minn. App. 1985); New Jersey - In Re Z.O., 484 A.2d 1287 (N.J. Super. A.D. 1984); New Mexico - In Re Bunnell, 668 P.2d 1119 (N.M. App. 1983); North Carolina - In Re Hatley, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977); Oregon - State v. Smith, 692 P.2d 120 (Or. App. 1984); Pennsylvania - In Re S.O., 492 A.2d 727 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1985); Tennessee - In Re Helvenston, 658 S.W.2d 99 (Tenn. App. 1983); Texas - Lodge v. State, 597 S.W.2d 773 (Tex.Civ.App. 4th Dist. 1980); Washington -In Re McLaughlin, 676 P.2d 444 (Wash. 1984); Wisconsin - In Re

W.J.C., 369 N.W.2d 162 (Wisc. App. 1985); and <u>Federal - In Re</u> Ballay, 482 F.2d 648 (D.C. Cir. 1973).

For all of the above-described reasons, appeal of involuntary commitments should never become moot when the citizen is released during the pendency of an appeal. Fundamental fairness and public policy require that this Court adopt a mootness principle which is identical to the mootness standard used in criminal appeals because involuntary commitment involves a similar deprivation of liberty and creates many of the same adverse social consequences arising from a criminal conviction and incarceration.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE RELEASE OF A CITIZEN FROM AN INVOL-UNTARY HOSPITALIZATION DOES NOT RENDER A PENDING APPEAL MOOT BECAUSE AN INVOLU-NTARY COMMITMENT TO A MENTAL HOSPITAL INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT LOSS OF LIBERTY, CREATES SEVERE SOCIAL CONSEQUENCES, CAUSES A LIFE-LONG STIGMA FOR THE PER-SON COMMITTED AND INVOLVES LEGAL ISSUES WHICH ARE CAPABLE OF REPETITION, BUT WHICH COULD EVADE APPELLATE REVIEW.

### A. The issue in this cause.

The First District Court of Appeal in this cause and in Godwin v. State, supra, decided that an appeal of an involuntary commitment would not be moot following a release from commitment, if the appellant could demonstrate collateral legal consequences from the commitment. See also Taylor v. State, 536 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Westlake v. State, 440 So.2d 74 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). As Florida courts have previously decided collateral legal consequences overcome mootness, the First District obviously was concerned about whether non-legal consequences could overcome mootness. In this cause and in Godwin, supra, there are no apparent collateral legal consequences. Therefore, the question for this Court is limited to whether non-legal consequences will defeat a mootness claim.

This Court should resolutely reject a principle of mootness limited only to the proof of adverse collateral legal consequences. The unique nature of an involuntary commitment based upon mental illness renders the collateral legal conse-

quences doctrine inappropriate because an involuntary hospitalization is a complete loss of liberty akin to incarceration for a crime. Moreover, the fact of an involuntary commitment can prevent individuals from holding/keeping certain professional jobs. The involuntary hospitalization can keep a citizen from having other jobs or renting/owning property. A lifelong stigma will usually follow an individual involuntarily committed to a state mental hospital.

Involuntary commitments to a state hospital, pursuant to Section 394.467, Florida Statutes, last for up to 6 months. It is almost impossible for busy courts and counsel to complete an entire appeal, from preparation of the record to the opinion of the court, in 6 months. In this case, the First District expedited the appeal by Petitioner. Despite this action, the case was still not decided within 6 months. Cases involving involuntary commitments involve significant legal and constitutional issues. The District Courts of Appeal and this Court has reviewed and reversed many cases involving such issues. See e.g. Welk v. State, 542 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Williams v. State, 522 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Schexnayder v. State, 495 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Reigosa v. State, 362 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); In Re Beverly, 342 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1977).

These issues are obviously capable of repetition because appellate courts have had to adjudicate similar issues on the legality of an involuntary commitment, despite prior precedent on the issue. See and compare Welk v. State, supra; L.A. v. State, 530 So.2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Schexnayder v. State, supra.

However, a narrow view of mootness, based upon release from the commitment, would cause these issues to escape appellate review. Courts from other jurisdictions have directly considered the doctrine of "capable of repetition, yet evading review" in involuntary commitment cases. Those cases decided an appeal of an involuntary commitment was not moot because of the capable of repetition, yet evading review principle. See e.g. Lodge v. State, 597 S.W.2d 773 (Tex.Civ.App. 4th Dist. 1980), aff'd, 608 S.W.2d 910 (Tex. 1980); In Re Ballay, 482 F.2d 648 (D.C.Cir. 1973).

The question certified by the First District asks what showing (other than legal consequences) must an appellant make to avoid dismissal of the appeal on the grounds of mootness. In light of this question and the above-described case law, this Court must decide what non-legal collateral consequences will overcome the technical mootness of an appeal. Petitioner will individually address each of these consequences to demonstrate that release from involuntary commitment should not make an appeal moot, despite of the lack of any collateral legal consequences.

B. An involuntary commitment involves a total loss of liberty akin to a criminal incarceration - public policy requires that such claims be adjudicated to avoid similar losses of liberty in the future.

An involuntary commitment to a state mental hospital involves a loss of liberty similar to incarceration for a crime. The United States Supreme Court in O'Connor v. Donaldson, 422 U.S.

563, 95 s.Ct. 2486, 45 L.Ed.2d 396 (1975), considered under what circumstances a state could incarcerate a mentally ill person. The Supreme Court found mentally ill persons could not be deprived of their liberty and constitutional right to freedom unless the person was dangerous and incapable of surviving safely by himself or with the help of willing and responsible family members or friends. 422 U.S. at 576, 95 s.Ct. at 2494.

Involuntary hospitalization involves a significant liberty interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The practical reality of an involuntary commitment is that it is almost identical to a confinement for a criminal act. The state hospital has locked fences around it and inmates there are not free to come and go as they wish. They are literally imprisoned due to their mental illness.

The short period of a usual hospitalization (up to 6 months, unless there is a recommitment of up to another 6 months) makes it difficult to appeal the legality of an involuntary commitment. If discharge from commitment automatically makes a case moot, the legality of the commitment cannot be challenged. Prior commitments to a state hospital often serve as the basis for another future commitment. If a person is recommitted for the same reasons and is released before the adjudication of an appeal, the person could be caught in a revolving door of involuntary commitments without any opportunity to challenge the bases of such commitments and avoid future commitments.

Several out-of-state jurisdictions have considered this issue and decided that the significant loss of liberty, coupled

with the possibility of future recommitments based upon the unreviewed commitment, defeated a mootness claim in an involuntary commitment case. See People v. Nunn, 438 N.E.2d 1342 (111. App. 1st Dist. 1982); State v. Lodge, 608 S.W.2d 910 (Tex. 1980); In Re Hatley, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977). Public policy requires that individuals deprived of their liberty be given an opportunity to challenge their commitments. The extremely busy appellate dockets make it likely that many individuals may never have their cases heard.

The Florida Supreme Court in Kinner v. State, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981), recognized this public policy interest exception to mootness in the mental health field. The Supreme Court decided to consider the constitutionality of Section 393.11, Florida Statutes, despite the fact that Kinner had been discharged from his confinement at a residential retardation facility. The Kinner court noted the court would not determine a moot issue, unless the questions presented were of general public interest and importance or unless the judgment would affect the rights of the parties. 398 So.2d at 1362. The Court then noted:

"We feel that this case raises a question of great public importance, the resolution of which will affect a significant number or retarded citizens who are presently institutionalized as a result of the application of the predecessor statute." (Id.)

The adjudication of an issue which could prevent or allow the involuntary commitment of a mentally ill citizen is obviously an issue of general public interest. The resolution of such issues also affect a significant number of individuals who

are or might be institutionalized. Fundamental fairness requires the opportunity for a person incarcerated or committed to challenge his or her confinement. The Supreme Court in O'Connor v. Donaldson, supra, acknowledged this principle and decided:

"There can be no doubt that involcommitment to untary mental a hospital, like involuntary confineindividual for ment of an reason, is a deprivation of liberty which the State cannot accomplish without due process of law." (Cita-422 U.S. at 580, 95 tions omitted) S.Ct. at 2496.

This Court should adopt the mootness and due process doctrines enunciated by <u>Kinner</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>O'Connor v. Donaldson</u>, <u>supra</u>, and hold that release from involuntary commitment does not make moot a pending appeal on the legality of the confinement.

# C. An involuntary commitment creates severe adverse social consequences.

A mootness doctrine limited solely to collateral legal consequences will not take into account the pernicious social affects of an involuntary commitment. The commitment could prevent an individual from keeping/getting a professional license to practice a certain profession. The undersigned counsel handled two such appeals before the First District Court of Appeal. In these cases, a lawyer and nurse faced the loss of their professional licenses due to an involuntary commitment. See Forness v. State, 533 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), and MacIntyre v. State, 505 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). In each case, the

Appellant had been released prior the adjudication of the appeal. In each case, counsel argued the possible loss of a professional license was a collateral consequence which would overcome a mootness claim. The First District apparently agreed because it summarily reversed the commitment orders in each case.

A loss of a professional license is probably a collateral legal consequence. See Madden v. State, 463 So.2d 270 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). However, an involuntary commitment could easily prevent individuals from getting more ordinary jobs which are not licensed by law. An Oregon Court of Appeal in State v. Van Tassel, 484 P.2d 1117 (Or. App. 1971), directly considered this point. The Van Tassel, supra, court rejected a mootness claim and found:

"...inquiry into a person's history of mental health by, for example, a prospective employer or bonding agency would be legitimate. 426.160 would not prohibit defendant disclosing anything in court record of his commitment. if he refused to give prospective employer or surety such information, he could very well be turned down for that reason." 484 P.2d at 1121-22.

An Illinois court also adopted this in <u>People v. Nunn</u>, 438 N.E.2d 1342 (Ill. App. 1st Dist. 1982).

Involuntary commitments could also affect a person's ability to rent a place to live or buy certain items. These impediments may not be legal consequences because there will be no legal right/duty to enforce. A prospective employer may simply refuse to hire a person with a prior involuntary commitment. Most employment applications contain a question concerning mental ill-

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