047

FILED SID J. WHITE

JAN 30 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PHILLIP SALLAS,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 77,074

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted, ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHLEEN E. MOORE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol - Suite 1501 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1573

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

Florida's statutory scheme does not permit this sort of linkage.

Reliance on <u>In Re Hatley</u>, 231 S.E.2d 633 (N.C. 1977) is similarly misplaced. Therein, the court specifically notes that the decision to commit the appellant was based on prior commitments Id., at 635.

Petitioner also argues that without the opportunity to appeal his commitment after release, a person could be caught in a revolving door of involuntary commitments. If some individual is indeed caught in this unfortunate circumstance, it is not because the opportunity to appeal a commitment after release exists only when a collateral legal consequence is alleged. Rather, it is because the individual has improved so that he is no longer a threat to himself or others or has improved so that he can survive, has been released, and then later deteriorates to the point that commitment is again necessary. It is then, deference to an individual's liberty interest, evidenced in the stringent criteria of commitment, and the nature of some mental illnesses that may cause a mentally ill individual to be caught in a revolving door of involuntary commitments.

While Petitioner has argued that he should be allowed to pursue his appeal because of the liberty interests involved, no effort was made by Petitioner or Petitioner's counsel to petition the circuit court or the First District Court of Appeal for writ of habeas corpus in order to secure Petitioner's speedy release. Section 394.459(10)(a), Florida Statutes, specifically states:

At any time, and without notice, a person detained by a facility, or a relative, friend, or guardian, representative, or an attorney on behalf of such person, may petition for a writ of habeas corpus to question the cause and legality of such detention and request that the circuit court issue a writ for release.

§394.459(10)(a), Florida Statutes.

In light of counsel for Petitioners present concern for Petitioner's liberty interest (now that Petitioner is released from custody) it is problematic to Respondent that no petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed while Petitioner's liberty interests were actually affected. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has noted "that the most salutory relief available to a person wrongfully committed would be release pursuant to a timely petition for habeas corpus, not an impractical appeal which cannot avert short-term confinement." Everett, 440 So.2d at 75.

Respondent also finds it problematic that the previous counsel for Petitioner waited until the last possible day to file a notice of appeal in this case and that the current counsel asked for a 35 day extension of time to draft and file a stipulated set of facts. While admittedly counsel for Petitioner had a valid basis for requesting an extension of time, the stipulated set of facts ultimately filed (thirty three days later) was less than 2 pages in length. One hundred and forty one days (approximately 4½ months) lapsed between the time Petitioner was confined to NFSH and the time counsel for Petitioner filed an initial brief on Petitioner's behalf.

Although counsel for petitioner did file a motion to the First District Court of Appeal to expedite the appeal it appears on the face of the record that the various counsel for Petitioner made no effort to expedite the filing of the notice of appeal, the stipulated statement of facts and the initial brief.

C. The Threat Of Potential Adverse Consequences .

appeal establishes Current law the right to involuntary commitment when a collateral legal consequence is There is, therefore, no summary alleged. Westlake, supra. disposal of an appeal of an involuntary commitment order. Petitioner has not established or even alleged that Petitioner is threatened with collateral legal consequences, but argues instead that the potential of adverse social consequences warrants abrogation of the mootness doctrine. This violates the fundamental principle that courts must address or controversies rather than hypothetical situations. Courts must limit the exercise of their power to cases where an adjudication will affect the rights of the parties involved.

Petitioner cites <u>State v. Van Tassel</u>, 484 P.2d 1117 (Or. App. 1971) as a court of appeal's case that has rejected mootness on the basis of potential employment or bonding difficulties. Traditionally, the Oregon Supreme Court has taken a relaxed approach toward mootness. <u>Id.</u>, at 1121. The Oregon Supreme Court has heard habeas corpus petitions even after release and has heard an appeal dealing solely with the question of the length of a criminal sentence where that sentence had already been completed. Id. at 1121-1122.

Other jurisdictions have not taken such a relaxed approach. The Wisconsin Supreme Court in <u>In Re M.G.S.</u>, 348 N.W. 2d 181 (Wis. 1984), dismissed an appeal of an involuntary commitment order brought by a patient that had been released. The court stated that:

This court has consistently adhered to the moot that a case is when determination is sought upon some matter when rendered, cannot have practical legal effect upon a then existing controversy. Milwaukee Police Assn. v. City of Milwaukee, 92 Wis.2d 175, 183, 285 N.W.2d 133, 137 (1979). It is generally thought to be in the interest of judicial economy to avoid litigating issues that will no affect real parties to an existing controversy. State ex rel. La Crosse Tribune v. Circuit Court, 115 Wis.2d 220, 228, 340 N.W.2d 460, 464 (1983).

Id. at 182.

The New York Court of Appeal is in accord with the above-cited authority. In <u>Boggs v. NYC Health and Hospitals Corp.</u>, 70 N.Y.2d 972, 520 N.E.2d 515 (N.Y. 1988) the court dismissed an appeal presenting only issues regarding the sufficiency of the evidence of commitment as moot. The court stated that:

[t]he "power of a court to declare the law only arises out of, and is limited to, determining the rights of persons which are actually controverted in a particular case pending before the tribunal "(Matter of Hearst Corp. v. Clyne, 50 N.Y.2d 707, 713, 431 N.Y.S.2d 400, N.E. 2d 876). Where, as here, a change in circumstances resolves the matter and no controversy remains, the appeal should be dismissed as moot.

Id. at 520 N.E. 2d 516.

Claims by released patients regarding concerns about future employment, reputation and standing in the community were specifically held to be insufficient to overcome mootness or were termed speculative in State Ex Rel D.W. v. Hensley, 574 S.W.2d 389 (Mo. 1978) and in In re Ringland, 357 N.W.2d 132 (Minn. 1984).

A number of other foreign jurisdictions continue to support application of the mootness doctrine to commitment appeals, applying the same exceptions as Florida courts.

Radulski v. Delaware State Hospital, 562 A.2d 562 (Del. 1988); In re Faucher, 558 A.2d 705 (Me. 1989); In re Robledo, 341 N.W.2d 278 (Minn. 1983); State Ex Rel D.W., supra; Diamond v. Cross, 662 P.2d 828 (Wash. 1983); In re G.S., 348 N.W. 2d 181 (Wis. 1984); Boggs, supra.

The case of <u>Radulski</u>, <u>supra</u>, is noteworthy in that the Delaware Supreme Court encouraged attorneys to utilize expedited review of involuntary commitment cases as a way of avoiding application of the mootness doctrine. <u>Id</u>. at 566. Expedited review would be an option in Florida, especially in those instances where counsel for the committed individual believes that the commitment is clearly wrongful and that the committed individual will thus be quickly released by the hospital from custody. As evidenced by the record in this case, involuntary commitment proceedings are relatively short and uncomplicated. A notice of appeal could be submitted immediately and the trial judge could order expedited preparation of the transcript and

record. It would be the responsibility of the appellant to timely submit an initial brief and to motion the appellate court for expedited consideration of the appeal. Not only would this have the effect of avoiding a dismissal on the grounds of mootness, it would serve the committed individual's interest in being released as soon as possible. If the procedure suggested above had been utilized by the Petitioner, rather than waiting until over 4½ months after the involuntary placement hearing to submit his initial brief, it is likely that the 1st DCA would have had the opportunity to issue a decision before Petitioner was released from NFSH.

Respondent asserts that the cases cited above provide a proper balance between the private interest and the government's interest not only because an appeal based on potential future social consequences fails to present a case or controversy, but also because (1) the effectiveness of an appeal to remedy potential adverse social consequences is questionable and (2) there exists more direct and effective means to combat discrimination in the form of federal anti-discrimination laws.

Petitioner's characterization of the First District's opinions in <u>Forness v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) and <u>MacIntyre v. State</u>, 505 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) as precedent or support for the proposition that possible effects on employment defeats mootness, is misplaced. The opinion in these cases consist of merely two sentences stating that there is not competent substantial evidence in the record to support the

commitment and that the order of involuntary commitment is reversed. There is no indication from the opinion that mootness was even an issue nor is there any indication what matters the court considered, let alone what matters the court found persuasive.

The Petitioner's arguments regarding the potential of unspecified adverse social consequences fails to present this Court with an actual case or controversy. Petitioner has failed to allege any actual adverse social consequences suffered by him as a result of his involuntary commitment, nor has he established that a reversal of his commitment would prevent him from suffering adverse social consequences.

D. The Threat Of Stigma .

Stigma does not provide a sufficient basis upon which to overturn <u>Kinner</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the mootness doctrine enunciated therein. The Supreme Court has noted that it is the symptomatology of mental illness that is truly stigmatizing, (<u>Parham v. J.R.</u>, 442 U.S. 584 (1979)), not the commitment itself.

As discussed previously, the majority of involuntary commitment appeals do not challenge the determination that the appellant is suffering from a mental illness and challenge one of the other findings required by Chapter 394, F.S. Moreover, it is the mental illness diagnosis itself and the resultant behavioral symptoms of mental illness that are the root of societal stigma, not hospitalization. Even if this Court were to find that

commitment imposes some additional measure of stigma upon the individual, the extent to which an order overturning an involuntary commitment alleviates or extinguishes this additional measure of stigma is questionable. Already, there are confidentiality provisions to protect an individual's records from release or disclosure. See, Section 394.459(9), F.S.

If this Court were to accept Petitioner's position that mootness should never be applied to involuntary commitment appeals, courts might well be deciding an appeal, when a released individual had been subsequently committed, solely on the basis that an individual might, sometime in their life, suffer social stigma from their commitment. The State contends that this would be a poor use of the state's limited administrative and fiscal resources.

While it is true that the First District in 1969 reversed an order of incompetence after the appellant had been released and his sanity restored, (In Re Sealy, 218 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969)), this Court in 1987 held that release moots an appeal contesting the sufficiency of the evidence to commit. See, Kinner, supra. Petitioner has not provided any cogent reason for this Court to abandon its application of the mootness doctrine enunciated in Kinner, supra, and to replace it with the one enunciated by the First District in 1969. The current criteria for commitment is more stringent than the criteria in place in 1969, so that the threat of unwarranted commitment as occurred in Sealey is minimal. See, Section 394.467, F.S.

E. The Capable of Repetition, Yet Evading Review Exception to the Mootness Doctrine Is Inapplicable to Petitioner's Appeal

Petitioner states that the greater weight of authority holds that release does not moot an involuntary commitment appeal "because the issues presented by such cases are capable of repetition, yet could evade appellate review." Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p. 18. What Petitioner has failed to recognize is that a case may be moot for the purposes of a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, yet still present a live justiciable issue. In neither In Re W.J.C., 369 N.W.2d 162 (Wisc. App. 1985), nor In Re McLaughlin, 676 P.2d 444 (Wash. 1984), nor In Re Cordie, 372 N.W.2d 24 (Minn. App. 1985) nor <u>In</u> Re Z.O., 484 A.2d 1287 (N.J. Super. A.D. 1984) nor In Re Bunnell, 666 P.2d 1119 (N.W. App. 1983), nor in In Re Helvenston, 658 S.W.2d 99 (Tenn. App. 1983), nor In Hashimi v. Kalil, 446 N.E.2d 1387 (Mass. 1983), nor in Conservatorship of Manton, 703 P.2d 1147 (Cal. 1985) do the respective courts hold that sufficiency of the evidence to commit is an issue capable of repetition yet evading review, warranting review of such evidence after release. In fact, in W.J.C., supra, and in McLaughlin, supra, the courts held that the validity of the commitment was moot because the committee had been released. The issue capable of repetition in W.J.C. was whether to allow telephone testimony at commitment hearings and in McLaughlin, the issues capable of repetition were the standard of proof at commitment hearings and whether a unanimous verdict is necessary to commit. In Cordie,

supra, the court specifically stated that the commitment orders analysis themselves were not subject to review; the was restricted to the issue of the performance of counsel. In Bunnel, supra, the court addressed the issue of whether to grant a continuance to counsel in involuntary commitment hearings, and in Helvenston, supra, the court addressed the issue of whether the privilege against self-incrimination applied to judicial hospital proceedings. In none of of the cases cited above did the courts review the sufficiency of the evidence to commit. Hashimi, supra, the court did not review the sufficiency of the evidence to commit, but heard the appeal to interpret troubling statutory language. And in the Conservatorship of Manton, supra, the court did not review the sufficiency of the evidence, but ruled on the issue of the admissibility of the evidence in conservatorship hearings. These cases apply the mootness doctrine as did this Court in Kinner, supra. While the issues relating to the sufficiency of the evidence to commit were mooted by release, other unrelated issues prevented the dismissal of the case as moot.

The "capable of repetition, yet evading review" exception to mootness is limited to cases where (1) the action is in its duration too short to be fully litigated prior to its cessation, and (2) there is a reasonable expectation that the same complaining party would be subjected to the same action again." Sosna v. Iowa, 419 U.S. 393 (1976). In the absence of a class action, to overcome mootness with the capable of repetition

exception, there must be a reasonable expectation that the same party would be subjected to the same action again. Sosna, supra; Murphy v. Hunt, 455 U.S. 478 (1978). It is not enough to show a mere theoretical possibility, the exception requires a reasonable expectation or demonstrated probability that the party would be subjected to the same action again. Hunt, supra. Petitioner, then, needs to show that there is a reasonable expectation that he would be recommitted and released from commitment before his appeal could be heard on the basis that it is a case capable of repetition, but evading review.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the current case by case application of the mootness doctrine as evidenced by Kinner, Supra, Westlake, Supra, <a href="Westlake, Supra, <a href="Westlake, Supra, <a href="Westlake, Supra, Appropriately balances the competing interests implicated in involuntary commitment appeals. Petitioner has failed to present mootness doctrine in his case or as a general principle in all commitment cases. Petitioner has failed to present evidence of any collateral legal consequences suffered as a result of his involuntary commitment and thus his appeal was properly dismissed as moot. Respondent respectfully requests that this Court preserve the mootness doctrine articulated by this Court in Kinner, Supra, and uphold the lower court's dismissal of Petitioner's appeal on the grounds of mootness.